

Bylaws and Standing Rules

Bylaws and Standing Rules of the National Head Start Association

The current Bylaws are given in **boldface** flush left. They were amended and approved by the Board of Directors, June 27, 2008. Standing Rules are indicated by S.R. and are in regular type indented, and originally adopted on July 12, 2017.

S.R. 0.1.1 Defined Terms

As used in these Standing Rules, the following terms are defined as follows: "Board" shall mean the Board of Directors of the National Head Start Association.

"The Corporation" shall mean the National Head Start Association.

"The Association" shall mean the National Head Start Association.

"Executive Committee" shall mean the Executive Committee of the Board. Adopted 07/12/17

S.R. 0.1.2 Purpose

These Standing Rules relate to the Association's Bylaws. Standing Rules shall be adopted, amended, or repealed by a majority vote of the Board. The purpose of these Standing Rules of the Association is to facilitate the work of the Board. The Standing Rules will determine the appropriate governance when conducting business.

Adopted 07/12/17

S.R. 0.1.3 Numbering

The Standing Rules noted in the document follow this naming convention: [S.R. Article Number. Section Number. Number] Name. For example, S.R. 4.1.1 Class E, refers to the Standing Rule in Article 4, Members, Section 1, Classes of Members, Number 1 on Class E members.

Adopted 07/12/17

S.R. 0.1.4 Adoption and Amendments

Adopted MM/DD/YY; amended MM/DD/YY, MM/DD, YY, etc. Adopted 07/12/17

Article 1

Name

The name of the corporation shall be the National Head Start Association (hereinafter referred to as "the corporation").

Article 2 Office

The registered office of the corporation shall be located at 1201 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C., or such other place in the District of Columbia as the Board of Directors may designate from time to time.

Article 3

Purposes

The corporation is organized and will be operated exclusively for charitable, scientific, literary, and educational purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States internal revenue law). In furtherance of these purposes, the corporation will provide a national forum for the continued enhancement of the status of children, youth, and families.

Article 4

Members

Section 1: Classes of Members The corporation shall have the following classes of members:

Class A. Class A members shall consist of those members of the corporation who are fulltime directors of a Head Start grantee or delegate agency.

Class B. Class B members shall consist of those members of the corporation other than Class A members who are employed in a local Head Start program. Class C. Class C members shall consist of those members of the corporation other than Class A or Class B members who are parents or legal guardians of children who are enrolled in a Head Start program.

Class D. Class D members shall consist of those members of the corporation other than Class A, Class B or Class C members.

Class E. Class E members shall consist of any Head Start grantee that is funded through the Department of Health and Human Services/Administration for Children, Youth and Families.

S.R. 4.1.1 Class E

The purpose of the Class E members is to allow all staff and parents of the grantees of an Early Head Start/Head Start/EHS-Child Care Partnerships grant that is funded through the Department of Health and Human Services/Administration for Children and Families to be served by the Association as members.

Adopted 07/12/17

Class F. Class F members shall consist of 50 Head Start Associations and one Head Start Association per Region. Regions recognized shall be I, II, III, IV, V, VI, VII, VIII, IX, X, and XI (American Indians), and XII (Migrant Programs). They shall be called NHSA Affiliates, and shall qualify based on criteria established by the NHSA Board of Directors.

S.R. 4.1.2 Class F

The purpose of the Class F members is to allow all fifty (50) state associations and twelve (12) regional associations to subscribe to membership of the Association.

Adopted 07/12/17

Section 2: Dues

The Board of Directors may determine from the time to time the amount of annual dues, if any, payable to the corporation by members of each class. Dues shall be payable in advance on the first day of July in each fiscal year. Dues of a new member shall be due on the first day of the month in which such new membership becomes effective for the remainder of the fiscal year of the corporation.

Article 5 Meetings of Members

Section 1: Notice

Page 4

Meetings of members, regular or special, may be held within or without the District of Columbia upon not less than fifteen (15) days written or printed notice, delivered either personally or by mail, to each member entitled to vote at such meetings, subject to waiver of notice as provided in the District of Columbia Non-Profit Corporation Act. Such notice shall state the special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. Regular meetings shall be held at least once each year or more often as established by the members. Special meetings may be called by the Chairman, the Board of Directors, or members having at least one-twentieth (1/20) of the votes entitled to be cast at such meeting.

Section 2: Annual Meeting

Amended 4/08. The annual meeting of the members shall be held at a date and time established by the Board, the purpose of which shall be the transaction of any business that may be properly brought before the meeting.

S.R. 5.2.1 Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of the members of the Association shall be held during the Annual Conference every year. The membership shall be notified thirty (30) days in advance of the Annual Meeting. Adopted 07/12/17

Section 3: Voting

Unless otherwise specified in these bylaws, each member of the corporation shall be entitled to one vote on each matter submitted to a vote for the members. A member may vote in person or by proxy executed in writing by the member or his/her duly authorized representative. In addition, voting on all matters may be conducted by mail in such manner as the Board of Directors shall determine.

Section 4: Quorum

At all meetings of members, either regular or special, one-tenth (1/10) of the members entitled to vote at such meeting, represented in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum. Unless otherwise specified in these bylaws, the affirmative vote of the majority of the members entitled to vote and present or represented by proxy at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be necessary for the adoption of any matter voted upon by the members.

Article 6 Board of Directors

Section 1: Composition of the Board

The corporation's affairs shall be managed by a Board of Directors composed of fortyeight (48) directors. In addition, the immediate Past Chairman shall serve as an ex officio member of the Board of Directors.

Section 2: Election of Directors

Amended 6/08. Directors shall be elected by members of the corporation in each of the twelve (12) Regional Head Start Associations to serve a term of office as provided for in Section 3 of this Article. Each Regional Head Start Association shall choose four (4) directors, one of each class of membership of Classes A, B, C, and D in the corporation. Qualification for office shall be determined as of the first day of taking office as a director and an individual shall remain qualified throughout his or her term of office. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Regional Head Start Association must remain in good standing with the corporation in order for its representative directors to serve on the Board. Directors representing Regional Head Start Associations which are not in good standing shall be removed from the Board without need for further action of the Board.

Section 3: Term of Directors

Amended 6/08. Each director so elected shall hold office for a period of two years starting on July 1 of the calendar year ending in an odd number and serving until his/her successor is elected and qualified, or until such time as he/she is removed as provided in this Article.

S.R. 6.3.1 Governing Years

The Governing Years of the Association have been adopted by the Board to assist with clarification of board terms. The Governing Years are readily available on the Association's board webpage and on file. It shall be disseminated from time to time to affiliates including Regional and state Head Start Association's for information purposes. Adopted 04/07/22

Section 4: Removal of Directors

Amended 4/08. Any director may be removed with or without cause by an affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the directors then in office.

Section 5: Vacancies

Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors may be filled by the members from the Regional Head Start Association from which the director's vacancy occurs. Any director so elected to fill a vacancy shall be a member of the same class of members as that of his/her predecessor in office and shall be elected for the unexpired term of his/her predecessor in office.

S.R. 6.5.1 Officer Rule

An exception to this section is if the election of a new director would replace a duly elected officer. In this circumstance, the officer shall remain in service through their duly elected term as noted in Article 9, Section 2. The elected

 $\begin{array}{c} \mbox{Bylaws and Standing Rules} \\ \mbox{P a g e } \mid \mbox{6} \\ \mbox{representative from the Regional Head Start Association from which the} \\ \mbox{director's vacancy occurs would be eligible to be seated on the board once the} \\ \mbox{officer's term expires.} \\ \mbox{Adopted 04/07/22} \end{array}$

National Head Start Association Board of Directors

Section 6: Compensation

Directors shall not receive any compensation for their services as directors or officers of the corporation. Directors may be reimbursed for their expenses, if any, incurred in carrying out the purposes of the corporation, provided that such reimbursement in no way adversely affects the corporation's qualification under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States internal revenue law).

Section 7: Duties of the Board

Amended 4/08. The Board shall be responsible, among other duties, for:

- (1) Attending to any matter which the Board determines is in the best interest of the corporation and is within the purposes and objectives of the corporation;
- (2) Setting policy, including approving public policy statements and overseeing the implementation of such policy;
- (3) Approving committee members in accordance with the provisions of these bylaws;
- (4) Periodically evaluating the corporation's achievements and using the knowledge gained to revise its mission, goals, objectives, plans and budgets as necessary and appropriate;
- (5) Developing, adopting and periodically updating the major policies of the corporation including policies concerning personnel, financial management practices and Board operations;
- (6) Hiring, annually evaluating, and, as appropriate, dismissing the Executive Director;
- (7) Approving the annual budget, long- and short-range financial plans;
- (8) Selecting the independent audit firm;
- (9) Assuring that the corporation's activities are conducted in compliance with applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations;
- (10) Taking all other necessary steps to assure the achievement of the purposes and objectives of the corporation; and,

(11) Fulfilling any other necessary or required duties and responsibilities.

Section 8: Powers and Duties of Directors, Amended 4/08.

- (1) Directors shall act as fiduciaries to the corporation at all times including complying with the duties of care, loyalty and obedience.
- (2) No individual director shall act for the Board or the corporation except as specifically authorized by the Board of Directors.

Article 7

Meetings of the Board of Directors

Section 1: Notice

Amended 4/08. Meetings of the Board of Directors, regular or special, may be held within or without of the District of Columbia upon not less than fifteen (15) days notice to each director, either personally or by mail, telephone, or telegram, subject to waiver of notice as provided in the District of Columbia Non-Profit Corporation Act. Unless otherwise specified in these bylaws, neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors need be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting.

Section 2: Meetings

Amended 4/08. The annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held at such time as determined by the Board of Directors the purpose of which shall be the transaction of such business as may be properly brought before the meeting. In addition, the Board of Directors may provide, by resolution, the time and place, either within or without the District of Columbia, for the holding of additional regular meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chairperson or by written request of at least five directors. The place of the meeting shall be specified on the notice of the meeting.

S.R. 7.2.1 Frequency of Meetings

There shall be three face-to-face meetings of the Board scheduled concurrently with the two annual Leadership Institutes and the Annual Conference. There will also be three meetings by telephone conference call.

Adopted 07/12/17

S.R. 7.2.2 Annual Calendar Release

NHSA staff will distribute and release an annual calendar of meetings to the Board in May of each year.

Adopted 07/12/17

S.R. 7.2.3 Powers to Cancel Meetings

The NHSA Executive Director and Chairman/woman in agreement may cancel a scheduled Board meeting at their discretion.

Adopted 07/12/17

S.R. 7.2.4 Absence and Excused Policy

Should a director not be able to attend a board meeting, regular or special, they shall notify the Executive Director or his/her/their designee that they will not be attending the board meeting with as much advance notice as possible. The notification can be via email or telephone and should include the reason the director cannot attend the board meeting. Conflicts on a director's schedule for business reasons shall be counted as excused. Conflicts on a director's schedule for personal reasons will generally not be counted as excused, unless they are for an emergency, sickness, or bereavement. The record will be reflected in the roll call. When a director does not attend three consecutive meetings, the Secretary shall make a good conscious effort to communicate with the Region that the said director's absence is detrimental to the regional representation and that the Association values the opinion of the Region. Should the director continue to not attend meetings, the Board of Directors may remove a director as stated in the powers of Article 6, Section 4, Removal of Directors.

Adopted 09/25/20

Section 3: Quorum

Amended 8/07. At all meetings of the Board of Directors, either regular or special, onethird (1/3) of the directors then in office shall constitute a quorum except for any meeting at which an election for officers of the corporation shall take place in which case the quorum requirement shall be one-half (1/2) of the directors then in office. Unless otherwise specified in these bylaws, the act of a majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors.

Section 4: Action Without A Meeting

Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors may be taken without a meeting if consent in writing, setting forth the actions so taken, shall be signed by all of the directors.

Section 5: Telephone Meetings

Unless otherwise provided in the Articles of Incorporation or these bylaws, any or all directors may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors by means of conference telephone or by any means of communication by which all persons participating in the meeting are able to hear one another. Such participation shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.

S.R. 7.5.1

During FY2017-2018, the Board will adopt a trial period of reviewing the practice of attendance at board meetings by allowing board members the opportunity to dial-in for in-person board meetings. Should a board member request to dial-in for a scheduled in-person board meeting, that board member shall notify the Executive Director of NHSA a minimum of two weeks prior to the board meeting. The Association will then ensure a conference telephone is available at the inperson meeting. At the end of the trial year, the Governance and Nominating Committee of the NHSA Board of Directors will review S.R. 7.5.1. It is understood that the Board is exploring this change in practice, as board meetings in-person per year and three board meetings via conference telephone per year, while only allowing board members to dial-in only for the portion of the General Election.

Adopted 07/12/17

S.R. 7.5.2

Upon analysis and subsequent review from the trial period referenced in S.R. 7.5.1, no changes will be made to the bylaws with regard to Article 7, Section 5. Should a board member request to dial-in for a scheduled in-person board meeting, that board member shall notify the Executive Director of NHSA a minimum of two weeks prior to the board meeting. The Association will then ensure a conference telephone is available at the in-person meeting. Adopted 10/08/18

Article 8 Committees

Section 1: Standing Committees

Amended 4/08. A standing committee is a permanent committee that shall consist of directors and members who shall be nominated by the Chairperson, subject to the approval of the Board. Standing committees, with the exception of the Executive Committee, may include persons who are not directors but are members of the corporation. Committee members shall be appointed by the Board for terms of one year each, provided, however that each committee shall include at least two directors and that the Chairperson of each committee is a director. All standing committees shall operate within the policies of the Board of Directors. The standing committees are:

(a) Executive Committee. The Executive Committee shall be comprised exclusively of directors and shall be authorized to act for the corporation in all matters during the interim periods between meetings of the Board of Directors. The Executive Committee shall consist of the Board officers and the Chairpersons of each standing committee and shall notify the Board of any actions that it has taken. Such actions shall not conflict with the policies and expressed wishes of the Board, and all matters of major importance shall be referred to the Board. The Executive Committee is also responsible for making recommendations regarding the personnel policies of the Corporation, employment practices, employee benefits and personnel relations and for reporting on issues related to compliance with the policies as well as all state and federal laws and regulations.

- (b) Finance Committee. The Finance Committee is responsible to monitor and make recommendations regarding the financial status and policies of the corporation, including fiscal planning, budgeting, policy development, and financial performance. The Finance Committee is also responsible for making recommendations on the selection of an audit firm, reporting on and overseeing the annual independent financial audit and ensuring that any valid audit findings are resolved or corrected.
- (c) Governance and Nominating Committee. The Governance and Nominating Committee is responsible for: (i) review and update of the articles and bylaws of the corporation, as well as Board operating policies and procedures; (ii) orientation of new directors; and (iii) review, revision and implementation of Board election procedures including the certification of election results.
- (d) Government Affairs Committee. The Government Affairs Committee is responsible for developing the corporation's legislative and regulatory agenda, formulating strategies for advancing that agenda, soliciting input from members including State and Regional Head Start Associations on state and federal policy issues, and overseeing a communications system that educates members and the public about the corporation's position on issues of importance.
- (e) Research and Evaluation Committee. The Research and Evaluation Committee is responsible for: (i) tracking research on the Head Start program, as well as other services that affect low-income and at-risk pre-kindergarten children and their families; (ii) developing and implementing processes for soliciting input from member programs on issues and areas of interest, and informing members and the Board of the results of current research;
- (f) Resource Development and Member Services Committee. The Resource Development and Member Services Committee is responsible for developing, implementing and evaluating member services, developing and implementing strategies for retaining and increasing membership, ensuring that the corporation is responsive to the needs of its members and fund development.

S.R. 8.1.1 Scheduling of Executive Committee

The Executive Committee meetings shall be scheduled as needed by Board Chairman/woman or Executive Director. Adopted 07/12/17

S.R. 8.1.2 Combined Executive Committee and Board Meetings

Combined meetings of the Board of Directors and Executive Committees may be scheduled as needed by the Board Chairman/woman or Executive Director. Adopted 07/12/17

S.R. 8.1.3 Executive Committee Evaluation of the Executive Director

The Executive Committee shall be responsible for conducting the Executive Director's annual performance assessment and will present it to the full Board for action at the Annual Conference Meeting. Any wage change resulting from the annual performance assessment will be effective the beginning of the fiscal year. Adopted 07/12/17

S.R. 8.1.4 Director and Member Participation and Voting

Article 8, Section 1 Standing Committees details the ability of directors and members to serve on committees at the nomination of the Chairperson and approval of the Board of Directors. A director has the ability to vote on business before a committee, a member of the Association may join the meeting as part of the stated nominated and approved process, and discuss business before the committee meeting but has no voting power.

Adopted 09/25/20

Section 2: Special Committees

Amended 4/08. Special committees may be created by a resolution of the Board. Except as otherwise provided in such resolution, each member of such a committee shall be a director appointed to the committee by the Board. Any member thereof may be removed by vote of the Board whenever in the Board's judgment such removal is in the best interests of the **Corporation.**

Section 3: Duties

Amended 4/08. It shall be the duty of each committee to make regular reports to the Board and at such other times as may be requested by the Chairperson of the Board. In addition to the respective duties specifically assigned to the various committees by these bylaws, each committee shall perform such other duties as may be requested by the Board. The recommendations of all committees shall be subject to examination, review and approval by the full Board.

Section 4: Term of Office

Amended 4/08. Each member of a committee shall continue as such until his/her successor is appointed, unless the committee shall be sooner terminated, or unless such member resigns from the committee or is removed from the Board.

Section 5: Committee Chairperson

Amended 4/08. One member of each committee shall be appointed committee Chairperson by the Chairperson of the Board, except that the Chairperson of the Board shall be the

Chairperson of the Executive Committee and the Treasurer shall be the Chairperson of the Finance Committee. All committee Chairpersons shall be members of the Board of Directors.

Section 6: Resignation

Amended 4/08. Any member of a committee may resign at any time by giving written notice of such resignation to the Chairperson of the committee or the Chairperson of the Board.

Section 7: Resignation or Removal from the Board Amended 4/08. Resignation or removal from the Board of Directors shall constitute resignation or removal from any committee of the Board on which that director serves.

Section 8: Vacancies

Amended 4/08. Vacancies in the membership of any committee may be filled by appointments made in the same manner as provided in the case of the original appointments.

Section 9: Meetings

Amended 4/08. Each committee shall meet upon the call of the Chairperson thereof, or upon the call of the Chairperson of the Board, or the Secretary, which call shall indicate the date, time and place of the meeting. If regular meeting times are established, no notice of committee meetings is necessary. If a special meeting is called, the notice provision of Article VII, Section 1 of these Bylaws shall apply.

S.R. 8.9.1 Changes and Cancellations

The meeting Chairperson, with concurrence of the Executive Director, may change or cancel any regular meeting when deemed necessary. Adopted 07/12/17

Section 10: Quorum and Voting Requirements

Amended 4/08. The presence at any committee meeting of a majority of the members of such committee shall be sufficient to constitute a quorum for taking such action as the committee is authorized by these Bylaws or the full Board to take. Action by a majority of the committee members present at such meeting shall constitute action of the committee.

Section 11: Minutes Amended 4/08. All committees shall maintain minutes of the meetings of the committee.

S.R. 8.11.1 Committee Reporting

Committee reports to the Board are due two (2) weeks prior to the regularly scheduled Board meeting. Adopted 07/12/17

S.R. 8.11.2 Regional Reporting

The annual Board Certification process adopted by the Board on May 16, 2016 will identify the individual responsible for submitting regional reports due two (2) weeks prior to the regularly scheduled Board meeting.

Adopted 07/12/17

Article 9

Officers

Section 1: Officers of the Corporation

Amended 4/08. The officers of the corporation shall consist of an Executive Director, a Chairman, a Vice Chairman, a Secretary, a Treasurer, and such other categories of officers as the Board of Directors may determine from time to time. No person may hold more than one office.

Section 2: Election, Appointment and Term of Elected Officers

Amended 6/08. All elected officers of the corporation shall be elected from among the members of the Board of Directors by an affirmative vote of the members of the Board of Directors. An officer, so elected, shall hold office for term of two years and until his/her successor shall have been elected and qualified or until such time as he/she is removed as provided in Section 3 of this article.

S.R. 9.2.1 Election of Directors

The Election Protocol adopted by the Board on July 9, 2014 shall be followed in all elections including General and Special Elections. The Election Protocol is stated below:

ELECTION PROTOCOL

Beginning <date>, the Governance and Nominating Committee will open nominations for the following elected officer positions of the NHSA Board of Directors:

- 1. Chairman/woman
- 2. Vice Chairman/woman
- 3. Secretary
- 4. Treasurer

According to Article IX of the bylaws, all officers shall be elected from among the members of the Board of Directors by an affirmative vote of the members of the Board of Directors and shall hold office for a term of two years. The term for each elected position is two (2) years starting on July 1, <year> through June 30, <year>. The newly elected officer team will serve until June 30, <year>.

The Protocol, Officer Nomination Form (see Attachment A) and Description of Duties for each officer (see Attachment B) will be e-mailed to all NHSA Board of Directors and Regional Presidents no later than <date>.

Members of the NHSA Board of Directors who wish to run for office must submit the following three items no later than <date>.

- 1. One-page résumé that includes current contact information, including address, phone number and e-mail.
- 2. Letter from Regional President verifying that the candidate is duly-elected representative in their membership class and that they have the support of the Regional Board to run for an officer of the NHSA Board of Directors.
- 3. Completed NHSA Officer Nomination Form (Attachment A).

All three items must be submitted by e-mail to the NHSA Governance and Nominating Committee at the following e-mail address: nhsa-elect@nhsa.org on or before <date>.

Officer Nomination form and supporting materials will NOT be accepted by the Committee after <date> unless such candidate was subsequently recruited by the Governance and Nominating Committee.

In the event the Governance and Nominating Committee receives only one or no nomination, the Committee will identify and recruit qualified candidates, taking into account geographic diversity, membership class and area of expertise. Recruitment will be completed by <date>

The Governance and Nominating Committee will submit the final ballot with all candidates to the Board by <date> via email.

Election of the <year(two fiscal years)> Officer Team will occur on <date> at the regular Board Meeting from <time> <Time zone> at the <location address>. Prior to the vote by the NHSA Board of Directors, all prospective candidates will have an opportunity to speak for 5 minutes at the Board Meeting, regarding their candidacy, their qualifications and interest in the officer position.

The results of the election will be announced at the regular Board Meeting on <date>, and the <year(two fiscal years)> officer team will conduct their first meeting on <date>

NHSA members with questions about the nomination or election process should contact:

<Chair of the Governance and Nominating Committee> <Contact Information>

ELECTION PROTOCOL TIMELINE

<date></date>	Call for nominations of officers. Election procedures, NHSA Officer Nomination Form and description of duties of officers e- mailed to NHSA Board of Directors and Regional Presidents
<date></date>	DEADLINE to submit Officer Nomination Form and required candidate information to the Governance and Nominating Committee, nhsa-elect@nhsa.org
<date></date>	Closing date for Governance and Nominating Committee to complete recruitment, if necessary
<date></date>	Governance and Nominating Committee submits final ballot of candidates to the Board via e-mail
<date></date>	Election of <year(two fiscal="" years)=""> Officer Team to be held at a Regular Board Meeting during the <conference conjunction<br="" in="">with board meeting></conference></year(two>
<date></date>	<year(two fiscal="" years)=""> Officer Team announced at the Board Meeting during the <conference board<br="" conjunction="" in="" with="">meeting></conference></year(two>
<date></date>	<year(two fiscal="" years)=""> Officer Team assumes office</year(two>

ATTACHMENT A - OFFICER NOMINATION FORM

Electronic submission of the nomination form and supporting documents must be received no later than <date>. Please email the completed nomination form and supporting documents to nhsa-elect@nhsa.org as a PDF (non-writable format) document.

Candidate's Name: Head Start Program: Head Start Program Address: Phone Number: Mobile: E-mail:

Candidate nomination is for one (1) of the following Officer positions:

Chairman/woman

Vice Chairman/woman Secretary Treasurer

On separate pages, please provide a typewritten response to each of the following questions:

- 1. Please describe the reason(s) why you want to be an Officer of the NHSA Board of Directors.
- 2. Please describe what skills, experiences, perspectives and relationships you would bring as an Officer that could support and advance NHSA's mission and vision.
- 3. Please describe what you think are the most important issues the Board of Directors should focus on during your term in office.

Candidate Signature Date

ATTACHMENT B - OFFICER DUTIES

Description of Duties Article IX: Officers (NHSA Bylaws, amended June 27, 2008)

Section 7: Duties of the Chairperson

Amended 4/08. The Chairperson of the Board of Directors shall: (i) preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and all meetings of the Executive Committee at which he or she is present; (ii) nominate committee memberships and committee Chairpersons; (iii) represent the Board at public functions; and (iv) perform such other duties as may be required of him or her by the Board of Directors. The Chairperson may elect to be an ex officio member of all standing and special committees of the Board. The Chairperson, or another officer designated by the Chairperson, may sign any document or instrument requiring the signature of an officer of the corporation which is necessary and incident to the purposes of the corporation.

Section 8: Duties of the Vice Chairperson

Amended 4/08. In the absence of the Chairperson, or in the event of his/her death, inability or refusal to act, the Vice Chairperson, unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, shall perform the duties of the Chairperson, and when so acting shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Chairperson.

Section 9: Duties of the Secretary

The Secretary shall keep accurate records of the acts and proceedings of all meetings of the Board of Directors and of the members. He/she shall give all notices required by law and by these bylaws. He/she shall have general charge of the corporation's books and records. He/she shall sign such instruments as may require his/her signature. He/she shall keep a register of the Post Office address of each director and officer of the corporation which shall be furnished to the Secretary by each officer and director.He/she shall keep at the corporation's registered office in the District of Columbia a record of the names and addresses of all the corporation's members. He/she shall in general perform all duties incident to the office of the Secretary and such other duties as shall be assigned to him/her from time to time by the Chairman or by the Board of Directors.

Section 10: Duties of the Treasurer

Amended 4/08. The Treasurer shall oversee the fiscal affairs of the Corporation, and shall report on the financial condition of the Corporation to the Board of Directors at its regular meetings, the annual meeting and at such other times as the Board may require.

Adopted 07/12/17, rev. 04/07/22

Section 3: Removal of Elected Officers

Amended 4/08. Any officer or agent elected by the Board of Directors may be removed at any time by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office whenever, in their judgment, the best interests of the corporation will be served thereby.

Section 4: Vacancies

Amended 6/08. Any vacancy occurring in an elected office of the corporation may be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office. Any officer so elected to fill a vacancy shall be elected for the unexpired term of his/her predecessor in office; such term will not count for purposes of determining a limitation on serving in office as provided for in Section 5 below.

Section 5: Limitation of Term

Amended 6/08. No member of the Board of Directors may serve more than two consecutive terms in any single office, and no member of the Board of Directors may serve more than four consecutive terms in any office of the corporation. Only terms of office starting on or after July 1, 2009 shall be counted in determining whether a member is prohibited from running for a Board office as provided for herein.

Section 6: Bonds

Amended 4/08. The Board of Directors may by resolution require any officer, agent, or employee of the corporation to give bond to the corporation, with sufficient sureties, conditioned on the faithful performance of the duties of his/her respective office or position, and to comply with such other conditions as may be required from time to time by the Board of Directors. The premiums for all such bonds shall be paid by the corporation.

Section 7: Duties of the Chairperson

Amended 4/08. The Chairperson of the Board of Directors shall: (i) preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and all meetings of the Executive Committee at which he or she is present; (ii) nominate committee memberships and committee Chairpersons; (iii) represent the Board at public functions; and (iv) perform such other duties as may be required of him or her by the Board of Directors. The Chairperson may elect to be an ex officio member of all standing and special committees of the Board. The Chairperson, or another officer designated by the Chairperson, may sign any document or instrument requiring the signature of an officer of the corporation which is necessary and incident to the purposes of the corporation.

Section 8: Duties of the Vice Chairperson

Amended 4/08. In the absence of the Chairperson, or in the event of his/her death, inability or refusal to act, the Vice Chairperson, unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, shall perform the duties of the Chairperson, and when so acting shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Chairperson.

Section 9: Duties of the Secretary

The Secretary shall keep accurate records of the acts and proceedings of all meetings of the Board of Directors and of the members. He/she shall give all notices required by law and by these bylaws. He/she shall have general charge of the corporation's books and records. He/she shall sign such instruments as may require his/her signature. He/she shall keep a register of the Post Office address of each director and officer of the corporation which shall be furnished to the Secretary by each officer and director. He/she shall keep at the corporation's registered office in the District of Columbia a record of the names and addresses of all the corporation's members. He/she shall in general perform all duties incident to the office of the Secretary and such other duties as shall be assigned to him/her from time to time by the Chairman or by the Board of Directors.

Section 10: Duties of the Treasurer

Amended 4/08. The Treasurer shall oversee the fiscal affairs of the Corporation, and shall report on the financial condition of the Corporation to the Board of Directors at its regular meetings, the annual meeting and at such other times as the Board may require.

Section 11: Selection, Evaluation, Removal and Duties of the Executive Director Amended 4/08.

- (a) Selection: The Board of Directors will select, hire, annually evaluate the performance of, and, at its discretion, terminate the Executive Director.
- (b) Duties:
 - i. The Executive Director is an agent of the Board and is accountable to the Board. He or she shall be subject to the control of the Board of Directors, shall have responsibility for the general care, supervision, and direction of corporate affairs in furtherance of the policies and programs established by the Board of

Directors. The Executive Director's duties and compensation will be consistent with these bylaws, and shall be prescribed in an employment contract by the Board of Directors.

- ii. The Executive Director may negotiate and execute grants and contracts for the corporation, and report such actions that may have a material impact upon the corporation promptly to the Board of Directors; except that the Board of Directors may specify from time to time limits on the authority of the Executive Director to execute such documents without prior Board approval and may also designate specific proposed contracts to be submitted to the Board for approval prior to execution.
- iii. The Executive Director shall have the authority to employ, supervise, and discharge staff in accordance with the policies established by the Board of Directors.
- iv. The Executive Director shall have the authority to conduct an annual selfassessment of the corporation and its operations and to amend the corporation's policies to establish procedures for conducting and reviewing the results of the annual self-assessment.
- v. The Executive Director shall perform such other duties and exercise such other powers as may be assigned by the Board of Directors.
- vi. The Executive Director or his/her designee shall attend all meetings of the corporation's Board of Directors and its committees, unless the Board requests the Executive Director's absence during evaluation of his or her performance or during other meetings as determined by the Board.

S.R. 9.11.1 Evaluation of the Executive Director

Refer to S.R. 8.1.3 Executive Committee Evaluation of the Executive Director, for further guidance. Adopted 07/12/17

Article 10

Contracts, Loans, Checks, and Deposits

Section 1: Contracts

The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the corporation, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

Section 2: Loans

No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the corporation and no evidence of indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless authorized by a resolution of the Board of Directors. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

Section 3: Checks and Drafts

All checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money issued in the name of the corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents of the corporation, and in such manner as shall be determined from time to time by resolution of the Board of Directors.

Section 4: Deposits

All funds of the corporation not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the corporation in such depositories as the Board of Directors may select.

Article 11

General Provisions

Section 1: Waiver of Notice

Whenever any notice is required to be given to any director or other person under the provisions of these bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation, or by applicable law, a waiver thereof in writing signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be equivalent to the giving of such notice.

Section 2: Auditors

Amended 4/08. A certified public accountant shall be employed to audit the books of the corporation, or any fiscal year of the corporation, and at such other time or times, and for such periods as the Board may deem advisable, and to furnish reports on such audits to the Board.

Section 3: Prohibition Against Sharing in Corporate Earnings

No member, director, officer or employee of, or person connected with the corporation, or any other private individual shall receive at any time any of the net earnings or pecuniary profits from the operations of the corporation, provided that this shall not prevent the payment to any such person of such reasonable compensation for services rendered to or for the corporation in effecting any or its purposes as shall be fixed by the Board of Directors; and no such person or persons shall be entitled to share in the distribution of any of the corporate assets upon the dissolution of the corporation. All members, directors, and officers of the corporation shall be deemed to have expressly consented and agreed that upon such dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, the assets of the corporation, after all debts have been satisfied, then remaining in the hands of the Board of Directors shall be distributed, transferred, conveyed, delivered, and paid over, in such amounts as the Board of Directors may determine or as may be determined by a Court of competent jurisdiction upon application of the Board of Directors, exclusively to charitable, religious, scientific, literary, or National Head Start Association Board of Directors Bylaws and Standing Rules P a g e | 21 gualify under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3)

educational organizations that would then qualify under the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States internal revenue law).

Section 4: Exempt Activities

Notwithstanding any other provision of these bylaws, no member, director, officer, employee, or other representative of this corporation shall take any action or carry on any activity by or on behalf of the corporation not permitted to be taken or carried on by an organization exempt under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States internal revenue law) or by organizations contributions to which are deductible under Section 170(c)(2) of such Code (or the corresponding provision of any future United States internal revenue law).

Section 5: Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the corporation shall begin on the first day of July and end on the last day of June in each year.

Article 12 Amendments

Amended 4/08. These bylaws may be amended or repealed and new bylaws may be adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office, provided that prior written notice has been given to all members of the Board of Directors of the proposed amendments at least fifteen (15) days in advance of the meeting, and provided further that no such action shall be taken if it would in any way adversely affect the corporation's qualification under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States internal revenue law) and provided further that any such action that would affect the voting rights of the members of the corporation shall be posted on the corporation's website and the corporation shall inform its members of that posting by using its customary methods of conveying information to its membership.